

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Mutation Research 612 (2006) 1-13



www.elsevier.com/locate/reviewsmr Community address: www.elsevier.com/locate/mutres

Review

### Children's exposure to environmental pollutants and biomarkers of genetic damage I. Overview and critical issues

### Monica Neri<sup>a,b</sup>, Stefano Bonassi<sup>c</sup>, Lisbeth E. Knudsen<sup>b</sup>, Radìm J. Sram<sup>d</sup>, Nina Holland<sup>e</sup>, Donatella Ugolini<sup>a,f</sup>, Domenico Franco Merlo<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Unit of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, National Cancer Research Institute, Genoa, Italy <sup>b</sup>Institute of Public Health, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>c</sup> Unit of Molecular Epidemiology, National Cancer Research Institute, Genoa, Italy

<sup>d</sup> Institute of Experimental Medicine AS CR and Health Institute of Central Bohemia, Prague, Czech Republic

<sup>e</sup> School of Public Health, University of California, Berkeley, CA, USA

<sup>f</sup>Dipartimento di Oncologia, Biologia e Genetica, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

Received 21 July 2004; received in revised form 12 April 2005; accepted 12 April 2005 Available online 5 July 2005

#### Abstract

In the last decade, molecular epidemiological studies have provided new perspectives on studying environmental risks in pediatric populations, based on the growing understanding that children may be more susceptible to toxicants than adults. Protecting children's health is a social priority, and specific research programs have been initiated with this purpose in the United States and Europe. These programs address the development of (i) less invasive methods for biological specimens collection, (ii) specific tools for interpretation and validation of biomarkers, (iii) methods for translating biomarker results into intervention strategies and for integrating them with environmental monitoring and health data, (iv) optimal ways to obtain consent and provide information to children and/or their parents participating in the studies and (v) techniques for the effective communication with policy makers and the public. Critical issues in children's environmental research discussed in this paper include specific needs of study design, exposure assessment, sample collection and ethics. Special consideration is given to the autonomy of the child in giving consent, the details and nature of the information provided, and the need to warrant controlled access to sensitive information. The use of incentives such as gifts and payment to ensure the participation of school-aged children is specifically discussed. Examples of field studies that are focused on the effects of pesticides, air pollution and formaldehyde are used to illustrate advantages and limitations of biomarker studies in children.

Keywords: Child welfare; Environmental pollution; Biological markers; DNA damage; Risk assessment; Molecular epidemiology

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +39 010 5600966; fax: +39 010 5600501. *E-mail address:* franco.merlo@istge.it (D.F. Merlo).

1383-5742/\$ – see front matter  $\odot$  2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.mrrev.2005.04.001

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Exposure assessment in children	3
3.	Susceptibility to DNA damaging agents	4
4.	Epidemiological study design in children	5
5.	Biological sampling in children	5
6.	Ethical issues	
7.	Examples from the field	8
	7.1. Chromosomal aberrations (CA) in children exposed to formaldehyde in prefabricated schools	8
	7.2. CA in children exposed to air pollution in the Czech Republic	8
	7.3. The CHAMACOS project	9
8.	Concluding remarks	10
	Acknowledgements	
	References	10

#### 1. Introduction

Protecting children's health is a social priority. Specific programs have been initiated in the United States and Europe in recognition of this fact [1-3].

In the year 2000, the United States Congress passed the Children's Health Act [4]. The National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS) and the United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) funded eight Centers for Excellence in Children's Environmental Health Research in 1998, and funded four more in 2001. The Centers are required to conduct community-based research on the causes and mechanisms of children's disorders with environmental etiologies. Currently, a major National Children's Study is being planned by NIEHS, EPA and the center for disease control (CDC) to follow the growth and development of approximately 100,000 children and evaluate environmental impacts on their health [5,6].

In 2003, the European Commission launched the SCALE program, that stands for Scientific evidence, focused on Children, to raise Awareness, improve the situation by use of Legal instruments and ensure a continual Evaluation of the progress made [3]. SCALE is aimed at assessing and minimizing the adverse health effects of environmental pollution on children. The main goals of the SCALE program are development of a common European information system and adequate political measures to improve children's environmental safety. SCALE focuses on

environmental health indicators, priority diseases (i.e., respiratory diseases, neurodevelopment and childhood cancer), integrated monitoring and children's research needs.

A partial overview of the European research in children's health has identified approximately 100 studies with over 400,000 children participating in existing biomonitoring and or research activities conducted in the member States and acceding Countries [3]. Forty-four studies dealt with exposure to heavy metals, 15 with dioxins/PCB and 5 with exposure to endocrine disruptors. Twenty-seven studies included the identification of biomarkers of asthma and allergy, but only a limited number of them investigated cytogenetic biomarkers in relation to environmental pollution. The methodological differences detected between the studies warranted the need for harmonization programs aimed at (i) generating a broader data set regarding exposure and its relationship to health outcomes, (ii) improving the chance of detecting spatial and temporal trends, (iii) allowing comparisons between geographical areas, (iv) quantifying the contribution of different environmental compartments (e.g., air, water, food, etc.) and (v) identifying emission sources to provide policy makers with better information for the planning of sound environmental actions and the implementation of control measures.

The leading priorities to be addressed in such an action program include the development of non-invasive methods for biological specimen collection,

2

the way of providing information to and obtaining consent from study children (or their parents/ guardians), the development of specific tools allowing for the interpretation and validation of measurements with biomarkers, the translation of biomarker results into intervention strategies and integration with environmental monitoring and health data, and the effective communication with policy makers and the general public [4].

In 2001, the European Network on children's susceptibility and exposure to environmental genotoxicants (CHILDRENGENONETWORK) [7] was planned as a concerted effort focusing on the effects of environmental exposure to genotoxic agents during various stages of childhood. Recommendations concerning the need for new research projects as well as ethical, legal and social aspects of biomonitoring in children will be delivered by the end of 2005 to the European Commission and are expected to positively influence European research in the field.

The purpose of this article is to review main issues in studies of genetic damage in children. Several examples of biomarker studies in children from Europe and the United States are used to illustrate the challenges faced by investigators conducting such studies, and the lessons learned.

#### 2. Exposure assessment in children

The recent interest in studying children's exposure to environmental toxicants stems from the new understanding that pediatric populations may be more susceptible to these agents, including carcinogens [8-10]. Because of vast differences in behavior and physiology, children's exposure patterns are quite different from those of adults. Children have higher daily intakes (per kilogram of body weight) of food, water and air than adults, and therefore, may have a disproportionately higher intake of toxic agents [11]. Children's exposure to environmental pollutants is also increased because of their "hand to mouth" behavior, which gives them a higher chance of ingesting toxic compounds present in water, soil, and house dust [12,13]. Finally, children may differ from adults in rates of detoxification, DNA repair processes, and cell proliferation [14]. Therefore, children and adults living in the same environment may experience very different exposures. As a result of the physiological and behavioral distinctions, and because of the variability in exposures that they may experience, specific approaches to exposure assessment in children are recommended [10,15].

Exposure assessment in children presents a number of challenges to investigators. Exposure to environmental toxins may occur by various routes (via inhalation, ingestion or dermal absorption) and may begin during the prenatal period and last through all stages of postnatal development. It was established that in utero exposure may be especially important because it may affect susceptibility in the later stages of life [16]. Ideally, exposure assessment should be based on combined questionnaire and marker data characterizing external and internal exposure. In reality, research data are often limited to either internal or external measures and only to a specific route of exposure. External markers can be measured in the air, dust, water, etc. Internal biomarkers relevant to children include measurements in blood, urine, saliva, breast milk, meconium and other biological samples. According to the EPA 2003 Report on "America's Children and Environment", five important media were identified: outdoor air, indoor air, drinking water, food and soil [2]. The most relevant pollutants for the majority of children are lead, mercury and environmental tobacco smoke as measured by its biomarker cotinine. Additionally, pesticides, air pollution and arsenic in drinking water are common exposures in some developing countries. Most of these pollutants are genotoxic depending on the level and the length of exposure and their effect may be modified by physiological and behavioural features. For example, Wessels et al. provided evidence that the factors increasing susceptibility of children to pesticides (as well as many other environmental genotoxicants) include their higher body surface/body weight ratio, higher circulatory flow rates, greater intake of water, milk and fruit juice than adults, consumption of large quantities of fresh foods (possibly contaminated), and frequency of hand-to-mouth activities [17]. Further, children undergo rapid development of their nervous and other systems, and therefore may be particularly affected by altered levels of enzymes that modify the toxicity of chemicals [16,18]. In general, it has been shown that children may be susceptible to very low levels of exposure, in some cases below the detection limits of current methods.

When considering children's exposures, a regional approach has proved productive. Regional approach focuses on priorities of monitoring exposures and health effects in specific parts of the world. Recently, Suk et al. published reviews of environmental threats in South Asia, the Western Pacific [19] and the Arctic regions [20]. They showed that regional approach helps to identify specific exposures, and develop monitoring plans and intervention and remediation strategies for this and other regions of the world. While in the last 15-20 years, general lead levels in children's blood significantly decreased in the USA and many other developing countries that banned leaded gasoline, lead is still a very critical problem in many parts of the world including China, the Philippines and other countries in South Asia and Africa, where gasoline is still leaded [21]. Children may be exposed to lead not only because of traffic or because they live in close proximity to the areas where their parents work, but also through less obvious routes, like the high lead level contents in traditional ceramics used for cooking (e.g., Mexico) [22,23]. Additionally, not only regions of the world but also regions of the countries or even cities may have an elevated risk. For example, because of the high exposure to traffic exhausts and residence in old housing where lead based paint has not been removed, lead levels remain high in some segments of the American population, like the residents in inner cities [24].

Other important factors to be considered in the design of environmental studies in children are dietary intake, physical activity and body mass index. For example, childhood asthma may be affected by dietary habits and the increased body mass that results from a sedentary lifestyle [24]. These factors have to be included while exploring the role of other known risk factors of asthma in children. Further, ethnicity and country of birth may modify the impact of a known risk factor. In the United States, Mexican Americans have the lowest risk of asthma among Hispanics. However, the prevalence of asthma was higher in US-born than Mexico-born Mexican Americans [25].

Major open questions in children's exposure assessment, such as dose–response relationships, susceptibility to low levels of exposure, or the effect of mixtures may be effectively addressed only by comprehensive studies of children's exposure. These entail large study groups and long-period follow-up.

#### 3. Susceptibility to DNA damaging agents

The presence of a causal association between exposure to genotoxic agents during developmental stages of life and increased risk of cancer is suggested by findings from experimental and epidemiological studies [26,27]. Recent trends in childhood cancers in the USA and Europe seem to confirm children's increased exposures to genotoxicants [28,29]. Human studies have reported increased risks for the clear cell cancer of the vagina, cervix, and breast cancer in young women who were exposed to diethylstilbestrol in utero [30,31]. Radiation-induced breast cancer, leukemia and thyroid cancer have been detected in subjects exposed to ionizing radiation during adolescence [32-34]. It has been reported that children exposed to low frequency electromagnetic fields may have an increased risk for leukemia [35]. Higher incidence of leukemia has also been reported in children exposed to certain traffic pollutants [36,37]. The occurrence of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in children has been linked to pesticide exposure [38]. Animal studies conducted with exposures during fetal development revealed higher tumor yield and lower latency compared to postnatal challenge, particularly when the exposure continues through adulthood [39].

Despite increasing evidence in the scientific literature linking exposure to environmental toxicants with childhood diseases, more studies are needed to establish which developmental windows or "age-related factors" are relevant in cancer susceptibility [40–43].

Molecular epidemiological studies have provided new perspectives in studying environmental risks in pediatric populations and are among the most promising approaches to understanding environmental risks. Field studies employing biomarkers allow for exploration of the various mechanisms along the pathway from an exposure to corresponding health effects. Biomarkers of susceptibility are also able to provide insight into the role of genetic factors in the health outcomes caused by environmental exposures [27,44].

The genotoxic damage induced by exposure to environmental pollutants shows a large inter-individual variability in children [45]. Among other factors, heterogeneity of genetic profiles may play a significant role in determining the observed variability, affecting the statistical power of the study and hampering the assessment of the exposure-related effect(s). The most commonly investigated genetic feature is the presence of inherited polymorphic variations (genetic polymorphisms) in genes involved in the metabolism of chemicals or in the process of DNA repair. The role of metabolic polymorphisms as modifiers of the effect of exposure to genotoxic agents on DNA damage has been evaluated for several biomarkers, though the event most widely studied is the formation of DNA adducts. In a group of 160 Polish mothers exposed to airborne PAH and their newborns, a significantly higher level of DNA adducts was found in mothers and children with a defective cytochrome P450 (CYP) 1A1 gene (individuals heterozygous or homozygous for the CYP1A1 MspI restriction site) [44,46]. An increased frequency of DNA adducts was also found in those with the glutathione S transferase (GST) M1 null genotype, and the combination of the two unfavorable genotypes resulted in a synergistic effect [47]. The frequency of DNA adducts in placentas of pregnant women living in the heavily polluted area of Teplice in the Czech Republic was significantly increased in individuals with the GSTM1 null genotype, while no association was found for women with the N-acetyl transferase (NAT-2) genotype [48,49]. Similar findings were described by Lagueux et al., who found an association between DNA adducts in the placenta and the CYP1A1-dependent enzyme activity in pregnant women exposed to organochlorines in two remote coastal regions in Quebec, Canada [50]. The evidence for the role of metabolic polymorphic genes on biomarkers other than DNA adducts in children is rather limited. Among the few studies addressing this issue, a small study performed in 26 newborns reported an association of CYP1A1 MspI polymorphism with the frequency of chromosomal translocations [51]. Recent results on genetic susceptibility of children to diseases modulated by BRCA2/FANCD1, have suggested that studying functional impairment of highly penetrant genes may provide important data for evaluating the role of individual susceptibility in childhood diseases [52].

Although the available evidence regarding the role of genetically based metabolic variability in modulating genotoxic damage remains restricted, differences between adults and children routinely suggest that children may be more susceptible to environmental compounds which interact with polymorphic genes [53–55].

#### 4. Epidemiological study design in children

Biomonitoring studies designed to evaluate genetic damage in children require careful evaluation of specific features that characterize pediatric populations. These may offer advantages and disadvantages for the investigators. The most evident difference between children and adults is the reduced impact of traditional confounding factors like cigarette smoking and occupational exposures. Children, at least until adolescence, usually do not smoke and are not exposed to any occupational genotoxic agents. However, they may experience second hand smoke (ETS) and have a higher chance of ingestion of contaminated dust [10]. Further, because a child's diet is less variable than an adult's, its impact as a confounder may either be reduced or increased if some part of the diet is contaminated with genotoxic agents [56].

An advantage of studying pediatric populations is the relative ease of tracing study subjects during school age. On the other hand, there are a number of aspects that may limit the suitability of children as a population for biomonitoring studies. The first is the low level of genetic damage in children, which generally reduces the statistical power of the study and requires a large sample size [45]. Pediatric populations are also characterized by a higher frequency of infectious diseases than adults. This fact must be addressed within the study designs given the genotoxic potential of viruses and vaccines [57,58].

Further, whenever the age-range of the study group encompasses teenagers, the possible role of individual response to hormonal fluctuations must be taken into account. Besides epidemiological parameters, ethical considerations must be carefully addressed in any study involving children. For example, the need to avoid traumatic and painful sampling procedures that can cause distress in children has led scientists in the field to develop non-invasive procedures for obtaining DNA or other pediatric biological specimens.

#### 5. Biological sampling in children

Biological samples needed for exposure assessment and evaluation of early biological outcomes can be obtained from many tissues and by a number of non-invasive as well as invasive methods (Table 1).

Type of sample	Mode of collection			
Non-invasive				
Buccal epithelia	Swab of inner lining of cheek with tongue depressor or cytobrush			
Saliva	Sterile plastic pipette or specially prepared cotton swab			
Urine and urothelial cells	Collected in sterile container, separated by centrifugation			
Nasal epithelia	Swab of inner lining of the nose with cytobrush or cotton swab			
Cord blood	Drained into sterile container from the cord after delivery			
Placenta	Collected after delivery			
Expired air	Spirometer attachment			
Hair	In container after cut or fallen out			
Finger nails	Clippings in sterile container			
Extracted teeth	Collected in sterile container after loss			
Invasive				
Blood	Venipuncture or finger prick			
Bronchial, esophageal, GI tract epithelia	Biopsy material			
Bone marrow cells	Crista biopsy or sternal puncture			
Spinal fluid	Spinal tap			
Amniotic fluid	Amniocentesis (mother)			
Adipose tissue	Biopsy			

Table 1 Examples of invasive and non-invasive sampling in biomarkers studies in children

The choice of biological specimens and mode of collection depends on the type of biological assay to be performed, the age of the study population(s), and the subjects' health status. Exfoliated cells from the mouth (buccal) or urine (urothelial), may be adequate for some research purposes (e.g., genotyping, cytogenetic damage), and can be obtained through much less invasive methods than blood collection (which is often done via venipucture). However, unlike blood cells, exfoliated cells are not easily grown in culture, thus limiting the possibility of obtaining metaphase cells for cytogenetic analysis. Buccal cells are commonly collected with a small cyto-brush or tongue depressor, which is then rinsed in conical centrifuge tubes containing stabilizing buffer [59]. Use of commercial mouthwash and simple mouth rinse [60-62] has recently gained popularity. Buccal cells can also be collected on pre-treated cards [63,64]. Exfoliated cells are easier to collect than blood and do not require highly trained personnel such as a pediatric phlebotomist. Buccal cells can be collected from remote field sites and transported without refrigeration to central laboratories for processing without compromising sample integrity [60]. Collection of exfoliated cells can minimize the use of valuable blood samples, reduce the blood volume needed from each study subject, and increase the sample size of the study population because participants may be more willing to provide a buccal swab or urine sample than donate blood [58,65,66].

#### 6. Ethical issues

There are several reasons that justify conducting field studies in children, including needs to improve our knowledge of environmental risks at different stages of development, and to define baseline levels of genetic damage in children. However, despite scientific and public interest in these topics, none can provide immediate benefit to the study participants. In light of this fact, ethical considerations have led scientists to limit field studies on children to those that do not expose the child to unnecessary risks, and to research where data on children is more informative than research carried out on adults.

Balancing the need to establish standards for paediatric populations against the responsibility of not causing harm to children was considered in the Guidelines prepared by the Council of International Organizations of Medical Sciences in collaboration with the World Health Organization. The Guidelines state: "The risk of interventions that are not intended to be of direct benefit to the child-subject must be justified in relation to anticipated benefits to society (generalizable knowledge). In general, the risk from

6

such interventions should be minimal—that is, no more likely and not greater than the risk attached to routine medical or psychological examination of such children. When an ethical review committee is persuaded that the object of the research is sufficiently important, slight increases above minimal risk may be permitted" [67].

Environmental studies on children using genetic biomarkers have created new ethical issues relating to consent. Consent for the use of data and samples from children must be provided by parents or legal guardians of minors [68,69]. It must also preserve the right of the child to opt in or out of a study, especially when samples are banked for use in new studies several years after collection. This implies that consent must be viewed as an ongoing process and that children recruited into studies at young ages (or prior to their birth) should be able to express their consent routinely as they grow older [70].

Incentives for children to participate in environmental health studies need more consideration. Authorities often claim for altruistic participation, stressing the *feel good* factor, and normally no payment is involved. Some studies choose to donate birthday cards, toys or cinema tickets in return for participation. Teenagers have shown a decreased participation rate in the German Environmental Survey (Bernd Seifert, personal communication) and in several instances ask for compensation claiming study participation is equivalent to work. They compare the hours spent with sampling and interviewing with hours which could have been spent earning money (Ole Wolthers, personal communication).

In December 2003, the CHILDRENGENONET-WORK hosted a meeting on ethical issues related to research with children and the meeting provided the following recommendations: "Research on and with children is necessary within clinical as well as environmental (public) health in order to provide age-relevant data regarding efficiency and safety of (medicinal) intended treatments and unintended environmental exposures. The stakeholders are: (1) diseased child with interest in optimal treatment (not relevant in public health); (2) children as such with interests of optimal health (UN convention), optimal treatment and no adverse effects from hazardous exposures; (3) parents (family) of children; (4) medical doctors; (5) researchers; (6) society, reg*ulators, administrators, ethical committees, international organisations*". The program of the meeting, list of participants and several of the presentations is available on the project web site www.pubhealth.ku. dk/cgn.

Research involving children raises specific questions about the study protocol that are to be handled in ethics committees, preferably with input from relevant experts (pediatricians, lawyers, statisticians, toxicologists, psychologists). No best practice in research with children is currently mandated, and the role of ethics committees is mostly regulatory. A direct control over the whole research process is not considered at this time in most countries. However, the best effort should be made to fully explain to children and parents the nature and implications of research.

Informed consent is a prerequisite in all instances—given by parents in case of children of young age (<6 years), and by parents with the concourse of children in case of school children and adolescents. Important issues surrounding the informed consent include the child's perception of the information given, perception that may change with age, and the presence of incentives to participate.

The right to withdraw at any time from a research process is fundamental for adults but more equivocal in relation to children. In clinical trials with disease treatment, it may be acceptable to overrule the child's desire to withdraw based on health benefits; however, in environmental health studies the importance of the child's will to participate or withdraw should be carefully considered. Further, when the child reaches maturity, his right to withdraw or opt out must be reconsidered and clarified.

Communicating results to parents and/or children must be agreed upon prior to the study. Ethical considerations may be different in cross-sectional compared to longitudinal studies, especially if individual data evaluation and tissue banking have been planned. In environmental studies, direct communication should be given in all studies either at individual or group level, according to the sensitivity of the information (in some cases stigmatisation due to increased disease risk may occur). The child may have the right to be notified of future research plans and whether the decision about future use of data and banked samples will be delegated to the ethics committee. The ethics committees within Europe and USA are not regulated by the same rules and show wide diversity regarding composition and independence. Further, recommendations by the ethics committees are not standardized and compared even within the same countries.

#### 7. Examples from the field

To provide examples of typical problems encountered when studying pediatric populations, we will review three major field studies from Europe and the United States. Study descriptions are brief, but the reader will be introduced to arising issues and referred to the original publications. The first two examples focus on children exposed to specific and relatively well-defined agents. In the third example, a more general assessment of biomarkers of exposure and health effects is conducted in a pediatric population exposed to pesticides and other environmental factors typical for modern agricultural communities.

## 7.1. Chromosomal aberrations (CA) in children exposed to formaldehyde in prefabricated schools

Dobias et al. [71] evaluated the frequency of CA in peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) to quantify the amount of genetic damage in children exposed to formaldehyde (FA) in schools. Children were exposed to FA from adhesive used to secure pressboard panels in prefabricated schools in Czechoslovakia in the 1980s. Soon after the schools were built, children started reporting eye and upper respiratory tract irritations. Chemical analyses revealed high concentrations of FA in classrooms exceeding the maximum allowable concentrations (MAC) of  $35 \,\mu g/m^3$ . Researchers followed children in the elementary (boys, aged 8-12 years) and nursery school (boys and girls, aged 5-6 years). Their findings showed an increased level of CA in children exposed to high FA levels (Table 2). This finding was comparable to cytogenetic damage reported in workers exposed to FA in an occupational setting [72]. These results stimulated the adoption of preventative measures such as wall paneling (wainscoting) to attempt to reduce exposures. Unfortunately, this remedy failed to reduce the frequency of aberrant cells in exposed children in the schools (Table 2). Only gasification of the school with ammonia, which reacts with FA to form the stable compound hexamethylentetramine, effectively reduced the concentration of FA in air to below the MAC limit. These results clearly demonstrate the clastogenicity of FA in children and show how cytogenetic analysis of PBL in children can be effectively used for biomonitoring and may lead to the development of effective preventative measures, including a ban on FA-releasing panels in kindergartens and schools.

# 7.2. CA in children exposed to air pollution in the Czech Republic

The use of brown coal in metallurgic industry and in power plants in the Czech Republic during the 1980s and early 1990s resulted in serious air pollution that started to decrease only after the mid 90s [73,74]. In the same period, the quality of the typical Czech diet was substantially improved by the increased

Table 2

Freque	ency of	chromosome	aberrations in	Czech children	with indoor	exposure to	formaldehyde i	n different	periods of time
--------	---------	------------	----------------	----------------	-------------	-------------	----------------	-------------	-----------------

1 2			1		1
Exposure group	Period	Formaldehyde (µg/m <sup>3</sup> )	Subjects	No. of metaphases	% Aberrant cells (mean $\pm$ S.E.)
School children					
Exposed	1984	317	20	1720	$4.71 \pm 2.09^{*}$
-	1985	130	16	1340	$2.83 \pm 1.64^{*}$
	1986	36.5	18	1600	$2.06 \pm 1.61$
Referents	1984	-	17	1473	$1.37\pm0.89$
	1985	-	17	1653	$2.24\pm1.11$
Pre-school children	l				
Exposed	1984	210-360	13	1300	$2.40 \pm 1.46$
Referents	1984	_	24	2400	$1.12 \pm 1.05$

\* P < 0.01 (exposed 1984 and 1985 vs. referents 1984), modified from Dobias et al. [71].

9

Time period	Age (years)	Ν	% Aberrant cells (mean $\pm$ S.D.)	References
1984–1993	Newborns	129	$1.11 \pm 1.14$	Bavorová et al. [78]
	4-6	24	$1.12 \pm 1.05$	Dobiáš et al. [71]
	7–15	196	$1.63 \pm 1.18^{*}$	Dobiáš et al. [71]; Rössner et al. [75]
	16–19	162	$2.02\pm1.64^*$	Rössner et al., [75]; Srb et al. [77]
1994–1999	Newborns	634	$1.11\pm1.15$	Černá et al. [79]; Rössner et al. [75]
	4–6	110	$0.59\pm0.65$	Rössner et al. [75]
	7–15	1885	$1.14 \pm 1.15$	Černá et al. [79]; Rössner et al. [75]
	16-19	262	$1.08 \pm 1.13$	Rössner et al. [75]

Table 3 Frequency of chromosome aberrations detected in Czech children in 1984–1993 and 1994–1999 by age group

\* P < 0.01 (period 1984–1993 vs. 1994–1999) modified from [76].

supply of fruits and vegetables, and by supplementation with vitamins and minerals. A study was done to look at the effects of these environmental and dietary improvements on the level of CA in children. Data on lifestyle and measurements of CA were collected from 3402 Czech children aged 0-19 years during the periods 1984-1993 and 1994-1999 [75-79]. A significant decline in chromosomal damage was observed in biological specimens collected from children during the period of 1994-1998 as compared to those collected ten years earlier. Interestingly, the decrease was present in all age groups except newborns (Table 3). These findings demonstrated that CA monitoring in children can be successfully used to evaluate the impact of changes in the levels of air pollution as well as changes in dietary habits.

#### 7.3. The CHAMACOS project

The Center for the Health Assessment of Mothers and Children of Salinas (CHAMACOS) is a large project investigating the effects of environmental pollution on children's health in the Salinas Valley in Monterey County, California. The project aims at estimating sources, pathways, levels, and health effects of in utero and postnatal pesticide exposures [80]. Exposure to pesticides is one of the most complex environmental and occupational risks to investigate at a population level, mostly because of the complexity of exposure assessment. The CHAMA-COS study population is a marginalized, low-income, mostly Spanish-speaking population of pregnant women and their infants. The combination of these features creates many challenges that have to be addressed within the study design. Questionnaires and home visits are completed upon enrollment of expectant mothers, at 26 weeks gestation, post delivery, and when the child is 6-, 12- and 24months-old. Child neurodevelopment and growth assessments are completed during the neonatal period and during home visits. Informed consents signed by both the mother and the father address the issue of future consent to assays in addition to those originally planned, including a clause that stipulates genetic testing. This practice is of particular importance given the mobility of this community, and the difficulty of obtaining biological samples from small children. To date, CHAMACOS has collected over 56,000 biological and environmental specimens, which has created a large biorepository for future research on pregnant women and children [59,80]. Biological and environmental samples have been collected, processed, and stored to maximize the potential for further analysis and to reduce additional research costs. Every biological sample that is collected is separated into several aliquots, each labelled with a unique bar code identifier. Samples of urine, peripheral and cord blood, and breast milk are collected from mothers and their children several times starting with early pregnancy. Urine and home dust are also collected for analysis of exposures to pesticides, allergens, and endotoxin. Cryopreserved blood samples from young children are available for genotoxicity assays. Blood smears can be used for interphase FISH and MN analysis. The study design also includes biomarkers of effect, including immunological measures, cholinesterase activity, and biomarkers of susceptibility, such as paraoxonase

polymorphisms. The coding system does not contain any personal identifying information about the participant as to preserve anonymity of the study subjects. This project has produced extensive documentation on collection, processing, storage, and shipping procedures, including standard operating procedures, chain-of-custody forms, discrepancy reports, and tracking databases. First results of this large study indicate that exposure to organophosphate pesticides is widespread in pregnant women and their newborns and may affect children's growth and development [80].

#### 8. Concluding remarks

The critical issues addressed in this paper clearly show that biomarkers of genetic damage may play a major role in understanding and controlling the adverse health effects of environmental pollution in children. The most evident advantage of using biomarkers is the potential for a better exposure assessment in conditions that are difficult to study, such as when exposure occurs at low doses or there is a mixture of toxic substances. Other benefits are more subtle, but their impact on public health may be even more effective. Among these advantages are the possibilities (i) to study gene-environment interaction, (ii) to establish whether a genetic profile can modify individual risk of disease and (iii) to identify subgroups at increased risk. These findings may have the direct consequence of improving the understanding of disease mechanisms. However, the risk of interference with children's emotional equilibrium or a violation of their civil rights resulting from participation in the study should be always considered as the first priority.

In summary, biomonitoring children's genetic damage has a number of risks that must be carefully evaluated in study design. Nevertheless, this approach offers the highest potential for disease prevention and developing regulatory policies.

#### Acknowledgements

The study was supported by grants funded by the European Union 5th FP (QLK4-CT-2000-00628,

QLK4-CT-2002-02831 and QLK4-CT-2002-02198) and the Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC). The authors appreciated Ms. N. Bekarian's and Ms. L. Pfleger's help with the manuscript preparation.

#### References

- NAS (National Academy of Sciences). Pesticides in the Diets of Infants and Children, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1993.
- [2] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1990. America's children and the environment. Measures of Contaminants, Body Burdens and Illnesses, second ed., Office of Research and Development, EPA 240-R-03-001, Washington, DC, 2003.
- [3] SCALE, Baseline Report 'Biomonitoring of children' in the framework of the European Environment and Health Strategy COM, 2003, 338 final. Available from URL: http://www.brussels-conference.org/Download/baseline\_report/BR\_Biomonitoring\_final.pdf.
- [4] The Children's Health Act of 2000; Public Law 106-310. Weekly Compilation of Presidential Documents, vol. 36, Presidential Statements, 17 October, 2000.
- [5] National Children's Study. National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, 2001. Available from: URL: http://nationalchildrensstudy.gov.
- [6] R. Chapin, G. Buck, Our once-in-a-lifetime opportunity, Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (2004) 67–68.
- [7] CHILDRENGENONETWORK. Available from: URL: http:// www.pubhealth.ku.dk/cgn/.
- [8] F.P. Perera, S.M. Illman, P.L. Kinney, R.M. Whyatt, E.A. Kelvin, P. Shepard, D. Evans, M. Fullilove, J. Ford, R.L. Miller, I.H. Meyer, V.A. Rauh, The challenge of preventing environmentally related disease in young children: community-based research in New York City, Environ. Health Perspect. 110 (2002) 197–204.
- [9] W.A. Suk, K. Murray, M.D. Avakian, Environmental hazards to children's health in the modern world, Mutat. Res. 544 (2003) 235–242.
- [10] P.J. Landrigan, C.A. Kimmel, A. Correa, B. Eskenazi, Children's health and the environment: public health issues and challenges for risk assessment, Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (2004) 257–265.
- [11] T.W. Armstrong, R.T. Zaleski, W.J. Konkel, T.J. Parkerton, A tiered approach to assessing children's exposure: a review of methods and data, Toxicol. Lett. 127 (2002) 111–119.
- [12] C. Rubin, E. Esteban, S. Kieszak, R.H. Hill, B. Dunlop, R. Yacovac, J. Trottier, K. Boylan, T. Tomasewski, K. Pearce, Assessment of human exposure and health effects after indoor application of methyl parathion in Lorain County, Ohio, 1955– 1956, Environ. Health Perspect. 110 (2002) 1047–1051.
- [13] H.J. Albering, S.M. van Leusen, E.J.C. Moonen, J.A. Hoogewerff, J.C.S. Kleinjans, Human health risk assessment: a case study involving heavy metal soil contamination after the

flooding of the river Meuse during winter of 1993–1994, Environ. Health Perspect. 107 (1999) 37–43.

- [14] C. Bearer, How are children different from adults? Environ. Health Perspect. 103 (Suppl. 6) (1995) 7–12.
- [15] J.J. Quackenboss, E.D. Pellizzari, P. Shubat, R.W. Whitmore, J.L. Adgate, K.W. Thomas, N.C. Freeman, C. Stroebel, P.J. Lioy, A.C. Clayton, K. Sexton, Design strategy for assessing multy-pathway exposure for children: the Minnesota Children's Pesticide Exposure Study (MNCPES), J. Expo. Anal. Environ. Epidemiol. 10 (2000) 145–158.
- [16] B. Eskenazi, R. Castorina, Association of prenatal maternal or postnatal child environmental tobacco smoke exposure and neurodevelopmental and behavioral problems in children, Environ. Health Perspect. 107 (1999) 991–1000.
- [17] D. Wessel, D. Barr, P. Mendola, Use of biomarkers to indicate exposure of children to organophosphate pesticides: Implications for a longitudinal study of children's environmental health, Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (16) (2003) 1939–1946.
- [18] G.S. Berkowitz, J.G. Wetmur, E. Birman-Deych, J. Obel, R.H. Lapinski, J.H. Godbold, I.R. Holzman, M.S. Wolff, In utero pesticide exposure, maternal paraoxanase activity and head circumference, Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (3) (2004) 388– 391.
- [19] W.A. Suk, K.M. Ruchirawat, K. Balakrishnan, M. Berger, D. Carpenter, T. Damstra, J.P. de Garbino, D. Koh, P.J. Landrigan, I. Makalinao, P.D. Sly, Y. Xu, B.S. Zheng, Environmental threats to children's health in Southeast Asia and the Western Pacific, Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (2003) 1340–1347.
- [20] W.A. Suk, M.D. Avakian, D. Carpenter, J.D. Groopman, M. Scammell, C.P. Wild, Human exposure monitoring and evaluation in the Arctic: the importance of understanding exposures to the development of public health policy, Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (2004) 113–120.
- [21] P.J. Landrigan, Pediatric lead poisoning: is there a threshold? Public Health Rep. 115 (2000) 530–531.
- [22] A.S. Ettinger, M.M. Tellez-Rojo, C. Amarasiriwardena, D. Bellinger, K. Peterson, J. Schwartz, H. Hu, M. Hernandez-Avila, Effect of breast milk lead on infant blood lead levels at 1 month of age, Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (2004) 1381–1385.
- [23] I. Romieu, D.M. Mannino, S.C. Redd, M.A. McGeehin, Dietary intake, physical activity, body mass index, and childhood asthma in the Third National Health And Nutrition Survey (NHANES III), Pediatr. Pulmonol. 38 (2004) 31–42.
- [24] M. Hernandez-Avila, T. Gonzalez-Cossio, E. Palazuelos, I. Romieu, A. Aro, E. Fishbein, K.E. Peterson, H. Hu, Dietary and environmental determinants of blood and bone lead levels in lactating postpartum women living in Mexico City, Environ. Health Perspect. 104 (1996) 1076–1082.
- [25] M.E. King, D.M. Mannino, F. Holguin, Risk factors for asthma incidence. A review of recent prospective evidence, Panminerva Med. 46 (2004) 97–110.
- [26] F. Perera, Environment and cancer: who are susceptible? Science 278 (1997) 1068–1073.
- [27] C.P. Wild, J. Kleinjans, Children and increased susceptibility to environmental carcinogenesis: evidence or empathy? Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 12 (2003) 1384–1389.

- [28] Stat bite: incidence of and mortality from childhood cancers 1975–2000, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 95 (2003) 1506.
- [29] E. Steliarova-Foucher, C. Stiller, P. Kaatsch, F. Berrino, J.W. Coebergh, B. Lacour, M. Parkin, Geographical patterns and time trends of cancer incidence and survival among children and adolescents in Europe since the 1970s (the ACCISproject): an epidemiological study, Lancet 364 (2004) 2097–2105.
- [30] E.E. Hatch, J.R. Palmer, L. Titus-Ernstoff, K.L. Noller, R.H. Kaufman, R. Mittendorf, S.J. Robboy, M. Hyer, C.M. Cowan, E. Adam, T. Colton, P. Hartge, R.N. Hoover, Cancer risk in women exposed to diethylstilbestrol in utero, JAMA 280 (1998) 630–634.
- [31] J.R. Palmer, E.E. Hatch, C.L. Rosenberg, P. Hartge, R.H. Kaufman, L. Titus-Ernstoff, K.L. Noller, A.L. Herbst, R.S. Rao, R. Troisi, T. Colton, R.N. Hoover, Risk of breast cancer in women exposed to diethylstilbestrol in utero: preliminary results (United States), Cancer Causes Control 13 (2002) 753–758.
- [32] F.P. Perera, Molecular epidemiology: insights into cancer susceptibility, risk assessment, and prevention, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 88 (8) (1996) 496–509.
- [33] D.G. Miller, Cancer in Hiroshima: 35 years after the bomb, Med. Pediatr. Oncol. 12 (1984) 224–227.
- [34] S. Nagataki, E. Nystro, Epidemiology and primary prevention of thyroid cancer, Thyroid 12 (2002) 889–896.
- [35] IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans Non-Ionizing Radiation. Part 1. Static and Extremely Low-Frequency (ELF) Electric and Magnetic Fields, vol. 80, IARC Press, Lyon, 2002.
- [36] P. Crosignani, A. Tittarelli, A. Borgini, T. Codazzi, A. Rovelli, E. Porro, P. Contiero, N. Bianchi, G. Tagliabue, R. Fissi, F. Rossitto, F. Berrino, Childhood leukemia and road traffic: a population-based case-control study, Int. J Cancer 108 (2004) 596–599.
- [37] P. Reynolds, J. Von Behren, R.B. Gunier, D.E. Goldberg, A. Hertz, Residential exposure to traffic in California and childhood cancer, Epidemiology 15 (2004) 6–12.
- [38] S.H. Zahm, M.H. Ward, Pesticides and childhood cancer, Environ. Health Perspect. 106 (Suppl. 3) (1998) 893–908.
- [39] E.E. McConnell, Comparative responses in carcinogenesis bioassays as a function of age at first exposure, in: P.S. Guzelian, C.J. Henry, S.S. Olin (Eds.), Similarities and Differences Between Children and Adults: Implications for Risk Assessment, ILSI Press, Washington, DC, 1992, pp. 66–78.
- [40] J.P. Landrigan, D.R. Mattison, B. Boardman, J.V. Bruckner, R.J. Jackson, M.H. Karol, D. Krewski, W.B. Weil, Comments on "Children's health, susceptibility, and regulatory approaches to reducing risk from chemical carcinogens", Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (2001) 5.
- [41] G. Charnley, R.M. Putzrath, Children's health, susceptibility, and regulatory approaches to reducing risk from chemical carcinogens, Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (2001) 5.
- [42] L.M. Anderson, B.A. Diwan, N.T. Fear, E. Roman, Critical windows of exposure for children's health: cancer in human epidemiological studies and neoplasms in experimental animal models, Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (2001) 5.
- [43] X.M. Ma, P.A. Buffler, R.B. Gunier, G. Dahl, M.T. Smith, K. Reinier, P. Reynolds, Critical windows of exposure to

household pesticides and risk of childhood leukaemia, Environ. Health Perspect. 110 (2002) 1047–1051.

- [44] F.P. Perera, W. Jedrychowski, V. Rauh, R.M. Whyatt, Molecular epidemiologic research on the effects of environmental pollutants on the fetus, Environ. Health Perspect. 107 (Suppl. 3) (1999) 451–460.
- [45] M. Neri, A. Fucic, L.E. Knudsen, C. Lando, F. Merlo, S. Bonassi, Micronuclei frequency in children exposed to environmental mutagens: a review, Mutat. Res. 544 (2003) 243– 254.
- [46] R.M. Whyatt, R.M. Santella, W. Jedrychowski, S.J. Garte, D.A. Bell, R. Ottman, A. Gladek-Yarborough, G. Cosma, T.L. Young, T.B. Cooper, M.C. Randall, D.K. Manchester, F.P. Perera, Relationship between ambient air pollution and DNA damage in polish mothers and newborns, Environ. Health Perspect. 106 (Suppl. 3) (1998) 821–826.
- [47] R.M. Whyatt, F.P. Perera, W. Jedrychowski, R.M. Santella, S. Garte, D.A. Bell, Associations between polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA adduct levels in matermnal and newborn white blood cells and glutathione S-transferase P1 and CYP1A1 polymorphisms, Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 9 (2000) 207–212.
- [48] R.J. Sram, B. Binkova, P. Rossner, J. Rubes, J. Topinka, J. Dejmek, Adverse reproductive outcomes from exposure to environmental mutagens, Mutat. Res. 428 (1999) 203–215.
- [49] J. Topinka, B. Binkova, G. Mrackova, Z. Stavkova, V. Peterka, I. Benes, J. Dejmek, J. Lenicek, T. Pilcik, R.J. Sram, Influence of GSTM1 and NAT2 genotypes on placental DNA adducts in an environmentally exposed population, Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 30 (1997) 184–195.
- [50] J. Lagueux, D. Pereg, P. Ayotte, E. Dewailly, G.G. Poirier, Cytochrome P450 CYP1A1 enzyme activity and DNA adducts in placenta of women environmentally exposed to organochlorines, Environ. Res. 80 (1999) 369–382.
- [51] J.M. Pluth, M.J. Ramsey, J.D. Tucker, Role of maternal exposure and newborn genotypes on newborn chromosome aberration frequencies, Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 32 (1998) 301–313.
- [52] J.E. Wagner, J. Tolar, O. Levran, T. Scholl, A. Deffenbaugh, J. Satagopan, L. Ben-Porat, K. Mah, S.D. Batish, D.I. Kutler, M.L. MacMillan, H. Hanenberg, A.D. Auerbach, Germline mutations in BRCA2: shared genetic susceptibility to breast cancer, early onset leukemia, and Fanconi anemia, Blood 103 (2004) 3226–3229.
- [53] T. Cresteil, Onset of xenobiotic metabolism in children: toxicological implications, Food Addit. Contam. 15 (1998) 45–51.
- [54] G. Ginsberg, D. Hattis, B. Sonawane, A. Russ, P. Banati, M. Kozlak, S. Smolenski, R. Goble, Evaluation of child/adult pharmacokinetic differences from a database derived from the therapeutic drug literature, Toxicol. Sci. 66 (2002) 185–200.
- [55] J. Chen, M. Kumar, W. Chan, G. Berkowitz, J. Wetmur, Increased influence of genetic variation on PON1 activity in neonates, Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (2003) 1403–1409.
- [56] R.A. Fenske, G. Kedan, C.A. Lu, J.A. Fisker-Andersen, C.L. Curl, Assessment of organophosphorus pesticide exposure in the diets of pre-school children in Washington State, J. Expo. Anal. Environ. Epidemiol. 12 (2002) 21–28.

- [57] T. Chun, D.S. Alexander, A.M. Bryans, M.D. Haust, Chromosomal studies in children with mums, chickenpox, measles and measles vaccination, Can. Med. Assoc. J. 15 (1966) 126– 129.
- [58] N.N. Ilinskikh, I.N. Ilinskikh, Chromosomal changes in vaccination, Vopr. Virusol. (Rus.) 29 (1984) 140–147.
- [59] N.T. Holland, M.T. Smith, B. Eskenazi, M. Bastaki, Challeneges of biological sample collection and processing for large epidemiological projects, Mutat. Res. 543 (2003) 217– 234.
- [60] L. Le Marchand, A. Lum-Jones, B. Saltzman, V. Visaya, A.M. Nomura, L.N. Kolonel, Feasibility of collecting buccal cell DNA by mail in a cohort study, Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 10 (2001) 701–703.
- [61] M. Garcia-Closas, K.M. Egan, J. Abruzzo, P.A. Newcomb, L. Titus-Ernstoff, T. Franklin, P.K. Bender, J.C. Beck, L. Le Marchand, A. Lum, M. Alavanja, R.B. Hayes, J. Rutter, K. Buetow, L.A. Brinton, N. Rothman, Collection of genomic DNA from adults in epidemiological studies by buccal cytobrush and mouthwash, Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 10 (2001) 687–696.
- [62] T.E. Adrisin, L.M. Humma, J.A. Johnson, Collection of genomic DNA by the noninvasive mouthwash method for use in pharmacogenetic studies, Pharmacoterapy 22 (2002) 954–960.
- [63] L.C. Harty, M. Garcia-Closas, N. Rothman, Y.A. Reid, M.A. Tucker, P. Hartge, Collection of buccal cell DNA using treated cards, Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 9 (2000) 501–506.
- [64] L.C. Harty, P.G. Shields, D.M. Winn, N.E. Caporaso, R.B. Hayes, Self-collection of oral epithelial cell DNA under instruction from epidemiologic interviews, Am. J. Epidemiol. 151 (2000) 199–205.
- [65] L. Lum, Le Marchand, A simple mouthwash method for obtaining genomic DNA in molecular epidemiological studies, Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 7 (1998) 219–724.
- [66] J.C. Rockett, G.M. Buck, C.D. Lynch, S.D. Perreault, The value of home-based collection of biospecimens in reproductive epidemiology, Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (2004) 94– 104.
- [67] Council of International Organizations of Medical Sciences. International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects. CIOMS, Geneva, 1993.
- [68] C. Drake, Informed consent? A child's right to autonomy, J. Child Health Care 5 (2001) 101–104.
- [69] B. Eskenazi, A. Bradman, E. Gladstone, S. Jaramillo, K. Birch, N. Holland, CHAMACOS, a longitudinal birth cohort study: lessons from the fields, J. Child Health 1 (2003) 3–27.
- [70] T. Goodenough, E. Williamson, J. Kent, R. Ashcroft, Ethical protection in epidemiological genetics. Participant's perspectives. Including children in the debate. European Meeting on Ethical Aspects in Studies on Placental Tissue and During Pregnancy and Childhood. Copenhagen, 5th–7th December, 2003. Available at CHILDRENGENONETWORK Home Page: URL: http://www.pubhealth.ku.dk/cgn/.
- [71] L. Dobias, J. Hanzl, P. Rossner, L. Janca, H. Ruliskova, S. Andelova, H. Klementova, Analysis of clastogenic effect of formaldehyde on preschool and school children, Cs. Hyg. 33 (1988) 596–604 (in Czech).

- [72] A.N. Chebotarev, N.V. Titenko, T.G. Selezneva, V.N. Fomenko, L.D. Katosova, Comprehensive evaluation of mutagenicity of formaldehyde by analyses of the DNA repair and cytogenetic damage in occupationally exposed people, Tsitol. Genet. 2 (1986) 109–115 (in Russian).
- [73] R.J. Sram, I. Benes, B. Binkova, J. Dejmek, D. Horstman, F. Kotesovec, D. Otto, S.D. Perreault, J. Rubes, S.G. Selevan, I. Skalik, R.K. Stevens, J. Lewtas, Teplice Program—the impact of air pollution on human health, Environ. Health Perspect. 104 (Suppl. 4) (1996) 699–714.
- [74] R.J. Sram (Ed.), Teplice Program—Impact of Air Pollution on Human Health, Academia Publishers, Prague, 2001.
- [75] P. Rossner, R.J. Sram, H. Bavorova, D. Ocadlikova, M. Cerna, E. Svandova, Spontaneous level of chromosomal aberrations in peripheral blood lymphocytes of control individuals of the Czech Republic population, Toxicol. Lett. 96/97 (1998) 137– 142.
- [76] P. Rossner, H. Bavorova, D. Ocadlikova, E. Svandova, R.J. Sram, Chromosomal aberrations in peripheral lymphocytes of

children as biomarkers of environmental exposure and life style, Toxicol. Lett. 134 (2002) 79-85.

- [77] V. Srb, P. Rossner, Z. Zudova, H. Pohlova, K. Koudela, Effects of formaldehyde and toluene on some cytogenetic indicators of the prentices, Cs. Hyg. 35 (1990) 66–75 (in Czech).
- [78] H. Bavorova, K. Frankova, D. Ocadlikova, P. Rossner, E. Svandova, Results of cytogenetic analysis of peripheral lymphocytes in primiparae and newborns in Teplice Program, Hygiena 39 (1994) 358–360 (in Czech).
- [79] M. Cerna, V. Spevackova, M. Cejchanova, B. Benes, P. Rossner, H. Bavorova, D. Ocadlikova, J. Smid, R. Kubinova, Population-based biomonitoring in the Czech Republic—the system and selected results, Sci. Total Environ. 204 (1997) 263–270.
- [80] B. Eskenazi, K. Harley, A. Bradman, E. Weltzien, N.P. Jewell, D.B. Barr, C.E. Furlong, N.T. Holland, Associations in utero organophosphate pesticide exposure and fetal growth and length of gestation in an agricultural population, Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (1) (2004) 1–9.